

FRIDAY 21 JULY 2000

INQUIRY RESUMES AT 9:45 A.M.





MR HINDLE ADDRESSES THE INQUIRY

MR HINDLE:   	I am now going to call Dr Gerard Wain of the New South Wales Programme.



MR HINDLE calls –

DR GERARD VINCENT WAIN (sworn)



[EXHIBIT GVW/CA/001 to 8 produced]

MR HINDLE XXN WITNESS

MR HINDLE:   	Is your name Gerard Vincent Wain?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And you are currently the Director of Gynecological Oncology at Westmead Hospital in Sydney?

A:   	Yes.



MR HINDLE ADDRESSES CHAIR

Q:   	If I may ma’am I’ll just for the record go through the qualifications.

CHAIR:   	We don’t need that.  Their in the brief aren’t they.

Q:   	Yes some others have done that buy I’m happy to.

CHAIR:   	No we don’t need that just ask him to confirm the brief.



MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR HINDLE:   	Dr Wain have you prepared a written brief of evidence for the inquiry today?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And I’ll just ask Madam Registrar to get you to sign that.  Dr Wain the practice at the inquiry is that the brief is taken as read so I’ll just ask you to stay there and answer any questions that my friends may have.



CHAIR ADDRESSES INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	Who is going to cross examine first?  Yes Mr Corkill?



MR CORKILL XXN WITNESS

MR CORKILL:   	Dr Wain I just want to deal with one or two of your conclusions in relation to particular patients that you have come to in the course of your investigation.  I want to look first at patient 4, on my copy of the brief that begins at page 9.  I want to hand to you – Madam Chair I’m going to need your assistance at this moment.  I wish to hand to the witness a document in relation to one of the patients from the screening register which has come available since the patient gave evidence, it was patient number 4.  I have produced a little bundle of all the screening programme stuff for that patient, I have shown it to all my colleagues, I understand it may be produced by consent.



CHAIR REPLIES TO MR CORKILL

CHAIR:   	Very well produce it by consent.



MR CORKILL CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR CORKILL:   	In relation to patient 4 Dr Wain you’ve noted two smears reported by Dr Bottrill, one at 8 January 1992 and the other 27 April 1995.   Do you see those?

A:   Yes.

Q:   In the bundle I've just handed you, we now have two documents, one of which we didn't have when the patient gave evidence.  Is this exhibit before you?

A:   No.

Q:   [Document handed to witness].  If you turn to the first page, which is one of the Douglass Hanly Moir reports, I think the first one is the 1995 one is it not, and one sees that from the coded reference half-way down the left hand side 951440, correct?

A:   Yes.

Q:   That wasn’t in the original material, was it, when you inspected the patient records?

A:   Not that I recall.

Q:   And, for completeness, the 1992 smear is the next one with the number 920073?

A:   Yes.

Q:   Now you have reached a conclusion in respect of this patient, at the foot of p11 of your brief, that recognition of the abnormalities on the smears prior to diagnosis and to the development of symptoms would most likely have allowed earlier diagnosis prior to its progression to invasive cancer with the need for less radical treatment.  Now this was an adenocarcinoma case, wasn’t it?

A:   Yes.

Q:   And you, nonetheless, are referring to the role of Pap smears, which deal with squamous cells, in possibly assisting in the diagnosis of an adenocarcinoma.  Can you explain briefly why that is so?

A:   well, usually these lesions when they begin, they begin at what's called the transformation zone, which is the junction between the squamous epithelium on the ectocervix and the glandular or epithelium on the endocervix, and frequently the lesions arise at that point, and at the commencement of when they begin they often are mixed lesions with a squamous component and a glandular component.  In fact you frequently diagnose glandular lesions by investigating abnormal Pap smears with squamous abnormalities.  So it’s not very unusual to find that, and I think in this particular case it’s likely that the smear that was reported in 1992, which on review has shown changes of presumably squamous intraepithelial neoplasia or CIN 3, was probably present then.  Perhaps, with investigation at that point, she may have had a glandular lesion as well, but certainly by the time the smear was done in 1995 when the pathologist on review commented on high grade endocervical abnormality, which is likely to be a glandular lesion, suggests to me that the glandular lesion was becoming more dominant, and then by the time she eventually became symptomatic with macroscopic cancer, which on histology was largely an adenocarcinoma, I think that’s really an over-growth of the glandular component and I don’t think it’s unusual for it to begin as a mixed element and then subsequently as the glandular component becomes more dominant, more over-powering if you like, it becomes essentially a pure glandular carcinoma.   So I think the whole process is quite consistent with what we know about cervical disease.

Q:   Now in the Sydney report for the 1995 smear, the possibility of a glandular component was clearly in the mind of the reporter?

A:   Yes.  It’s true that the cytologic diagnosis of glandular lesions is complex and controversial, and it’s unusual.  I think a pathologist issuing that report they were certainly suspicious, they’ve recommended endocervical biopsies.  That’s a common call in that sort of abnormality.

Q:   What % of adenocarcinomas would have squamous lesions present?

A:   I think it depends what point in the process you're talking about.  If you're talking about invasive carcinomas, about 15% of those are pure glandular carcinomas and maybe 70% or something are pure squamous carcinomas and maybe another 15% in the middle are a mixed lesion.  Frequently they are mixed lesions when they're invasive carcinoma.  When you get down to lesions which are picked up as adenocarcinoma or in situ of the cervix, the pre-invasive component, I would say about 30 to 40% of those would have a squamous component.   If you take it the other way, what % of squamous lesions have a glandular abnormality, that’s pretty uncommon, I would guess less than 1 or 2%.

Q:   Your comment, then, in respect of this patient, that recognition of abnormalities on the smears prior to diagnosis would have allowed, and prior to diagnosis of the development of symptoms may have allowed diagnosis prior to progression to invasive cancer, you are saying had biopsy been undertaken at the latest in 1995, this patient would not have had to undergo treatment as radical as that which she did undergo?

A:   Almost certainly.

Q:   Turning please to Patient 7, p14 on my copy –



CHAIR:   Mr Corkill, before you move off Patient 4, we should give this document an exhibit number if it’s been produced by consent.

[GBW/CA/009]



MR CORKILL:   Patient 7, Dr Wain, had a smear reported by Dr Bottrill in July 1995.  “Appearances within normal limits, little blood is present, repeat at normal interval, reviewed subsequently by Medlab Hamilton as CIN 3.”  In your conclusions in respect of this patient, you say it was likely there was an abnormality present at the time of the first smear.  I’m now on p16 of your brief.  Do my page numbers coincide with yours?

A:   No, but the para numbers do.

Q:   I don’t have para numbers.

A:   Paragraph numbers are for each patient.

Q:   Thank you.  So this is para 19.  And you go on to say “it seems likely that she suffered considerably from the failure to diagnosis at an earlier stage.”  Are you saying that if the smear had been reported differently in 1995 it is likely to have been pre-invasive only at that stage?

A:   I think that’s more difficult to tell, because she did have blood present on the smear.  It’s difficult to say whether it was pre-invasive or early invasive or whatever at that point, but it seemed that she had no symptoms, it was only some blood on the smear.  There seemed to be nothing in the notes to suggest that she was symptomatic at the time, so I would assume that it was either pre-invasive or early invasive.

Q:   and is it likely, then, had that been the position, she would have been successfully treated at that time?

A:   Almost certainly.

Q:   And her life would have been saved because we now know that she died earlier this year?

A:   I would say almost certainly.

Q:   Thank you.  Patient 8 had a smear reported by Dr Bottrill as normal in August 1994, Sydney re-read it as high grade in August 96, squamous cell carcinoma diagnosed.   Again, is this another example of a case where had there been a different report on the smear in 1994 her disease would not have progressed to the point that it had in 1996 and that treatment would have been successful in the interim?

A:   I would agree with that.

Q:   	You looked in depth at the patient records and briefs of evidence and what have you of patients 1-9 and I think you’ve also seen the briefs for patients 10-20, is it clear from you investigation that, assuming as you have assumed, the Sydney re-read  results are correct, that there have been very serious medical consequences for these patients?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And I imagine you would have been struck by the graphic accounts of the enormous stress and distress that they have suffered.

A:   	I found it personally a very moved experience reading the notes yes.

Q:   	If there has been routine under-reporting, then would you agree that these outcomes, even in respect of pre-invasive conditions, are wholly unacceptable?

A:   	Yes I would agree with that.

Q:   	Paragraph 23 of your brief – actually I’ll take you to paragraph 26 first of all Dr Wain.  You refer there to what you call the natural history of the disease.  I think there you are saying that you saw examples of a whole gambit of progressions here of both pre-invasive and invasive disease and you describe that as being a display of clinical behavior from spontaneous regression in some cases, persistent indolent disease in others and fatal progressive invasive cancers in yet others.  Were you surprised to see that range of outcomes?

A:   	I guess I would say that I was surprised to see it in a population that was having pap smears.  I’m not surprised to see it because it's consistent entirely with the literature and the understanding of cervical disease.  It's what happens with cervical disease so to that extent I was not surprised and that's what led me to the conclusion that these women were not being effectively screened.

Q:   	Yes you’ve referred elsewhere in your brief to it being an effectively unscreened population.  Are you saying that if patient’s had come to you in your practice with this range of disease, you would have expected them not to have been screened at all?

A:   	I’m much more familiar in my clinical setting with seeing patients for cervical cancer who come to me and say I’ve got this range of clinical presentations but I’ve never had a pap smear.  You ask them about, have they had a pap smear they say no I’ve never had a pap smear so I’m used to this range of presentations but it's usually in women who have never had pap smears.

Q:   	Does that allow you to draw any inference as to the accuracy of the re-screening exercise?

A:   	Within the limits that this is a small sample of the population, it's the end of the spectrum, it's what happens to women at the end of the cervical screening pathway and so I think you can draw an inference that somewhere along the way things were going wrong very badly.

Q:   	So your conclusions from a clinical perspective are perhaps consistent with other conclusions which others have drawn, for instance from biopsy, cytology correlations?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	I just want you to take please Dr Wain Tracey Mellor’s supplementary evidence and go please to page 7 of the brief.  I think you have been present in this hearing for the last couple of days have you not, and you have had quite a good opportunity to particularly look at this evidence and some of the other statistical material that was being discussed yesterday is that correct?

A:   	I haven’t looked in close detail at the written material, I have listened to the verbal material so I’m not very familiar with the written material.

Q:   	Thank you.  On page 7 of that brief at paragraph 15 you’ll see something described as the key findings in the action update report.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And could you just take a moment if you need to, to look at those findings and tell me please whether there are any in particular that are striking from your point of view as a Director of a screening programme.

A:   	The first striking feature that comes to mind is following the discussion about your screening population yesterday, the fact that 12,000 women had their smears read during that time even just one smear, as the Director of a screening programme with the discussion that went on yesterday about the size of the population, the number of women in the target age group in correcting that for a hysterectomy fraction, it strikes me that you’ve got an extraordinary high participation rate in your screening programme so if 12,000 women out of whatever the end figure ended up being, I think you are taking pap smears very well on your women.  That is women were participating in your programme very well which is not consistent with my clinical observations.  That was the striking feature.  The other figures saying that the increased abnormality rate deducted on the Sydney re-read  is strikingly different from the abnormality rate seen in Gisborne.

Q:   	Can you look at the last bullet point on that page which is the numbers of colposcopies, do you have a comment about that particular observation, 25% of the total of 847 had their first colposcopy before Dr Bottrill retired and 56% had their first colposcopy thereafter, after the investigation began in May 1999.

A:   	Yes which leaves approximately 25% or 20% had between times.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Excuse me Dr Wain, Good Morning.  Is there any data on the frequency or numbers of initial colposcopic visits that should  be in the population for a cancer incidence of X.  Is there any data on that?

A:   	Not that I can recall.  I would think the number of colposcopies would always be associated with the number of abnormalities detected on pap smears rather than the incidence of cervical cancer because clinically colposcopy obviously logically follows an abnormal pap smear rather than the diagnosis of cancer so I’m not aware of any discussions about that except perhaps if your touching on the literature about using colposcopy as a primary screening technique for patients in a high incidence.

Q:   	Perhaps I can ask you the question another way and bring it into context that you are familiar with.  NSW has a screening programme and correct me if I’m wrong, the incidence of invasive cancer  in NSW is approximately 9 –

A:   	About 10, 9/10, it depends, we spent a long time discussing the denominators.

Q:   	What would be the total number of colposcopic first visits for women with abnormal pap smears diagnosed as high grade in NSW per annum?

A:   	I don’t have the figure off the top of my head but in Australia the recommendation is for colposcopic assessment of any woman who has any grade of CIN on a pap smear so it would be – and the other indications for colposcopy are suspicious cervix and smaller things like that, so the total number of investigations would be equivalent to the total number of Pap smears with CIN predictions on.

Q:    So if you were working in a region with a high incidence of cervical cancer and a high prevalence of pre-malignancy on the cervix, that should be detected on  Pap smear, but the number of colposcopies/annum were very low, what would be your comment on that?

A:    I guess if I had that information I’d be surprised.

Q:    You would expect – what would you expect?

A:    Well, I would expect the number of colposcopies to just exceed the number of abnormal Pap smears generated in that region.  It would then be a matter of working out –

Q:    I’ll put it another way:  Is it correct to say that there is a correlation between the number of colposcopic visits/annum and the rate of reporting of abnormal Pap smears?

A:    there should be because that’s the prime indication for colposcopy.  It should be directly related.  There are some other indications, as I said, for colposcopies, but that’s the primary indication, so it would be an indicator, it’s not one that I had ever thought to use for a region, but certainly, I agree, it would be an indicator.

Q:    So taking the worst case scenario, if there are no colposcopies performed in a city there are no abnormal Pap smears?

A:    That’s correct, or else you are dealing in a situation where, for some reason, the gynaecologist concerned doesn’t use colposcopy or something else like that, but these days, and even 10 years ago, I would have thought colposcopy was the standard and recognised assessment for abnormal Pap smears.   So I agree.



MR CORKILL:   Is another aspect of that topic that you’ve just been discussing the relative proportions of colposcopy in these periods here as summarised at the foot of p7?

A:    Sorry?

Q:    You’ve got 25% during Dr Bottrill’s period and you’ve got 56% post-investigation.   Do you draw any inference from that?

A:    I hesitate to draw any inference because I suspect a lot of these – I mean, even on the small sample that I saw, some of those women had their colposcopies by coincidence almost;  they accidentally had a Pap smear somewhere else and they got a colposcopy.  I don’t think I’d attempted to infer that the 216 women had them because of Dr Bottrill, they almost had them by accident.  In some cases that I came across, and I presume that happened in other cases.   They went elsewhere for another Pap smear or something else like that.  Or they presented with symptoms or something.

Q:    Are there any of those key findings you wish to comment on?

A:    Not more than has been commented on extensively by others.

Q:    Thank you.   Could you just turn to p45 of tab 87 in the same bundle.  I think you had the opportunity of getting your head around this table yesterday, did you?

A:    Briefly.

Q:    So, for instance, line 6, “6 slides re-read, extreme right hand end, 1 woman had 6 slides read differently.”  Now, again in your capacity as a Director of a screening programme, do you have any comment about a statistic of that nature and a summary of that nature?

A:    Well, as I’ve commented in my brief, one of the ways a screening programme works, and to cover the known false negative rate is to suggest that women have repeated smears over a certain time interval depending on whatever the circumstances, and that principle, as we discussed yesterday, was that if a rare event is going to happen it’s unlikely to happen twice.  I think the extreme example here of one woman who had 6 Pap smears all read incorrectly, I’m not a gambler but if you work out the statistical, like the probability of that happening, it must be extraordinarily rare.  It must be – I don’t even know how to work out the odds of that happening in a particular event.

Q:    Well we’ll settle for very rare.   And likewise, and presumably 5 and 4 and how far in would you come?

A:    Well I think it’s rare to have 1, but it happens, so I think for one woman to have it happen to her twice is very unlucky and uncommon.   For it to happen 3 times, and by the time you get to 6 it becomes almost unbelievable.

Q:    Thank you.  Just a couple of matters to do with the Australian programme, Dr Wain, in your brief you mention at para 37 the issue of laboratory accreditation and quality assurance having been the subject of ongoing attention and enhancement since the early 90s.  I think we heard from Dr Farnsworth that NATA accreditation had been compulsory since 1987.  Is that your understanding as well?

A:    NATA accreditation, that is probably correct, yes.   Discussing this area, the terms accreditation, requirements and standards get very confused.

Q:    Well, they do, because as one goes on they become more developed and refined, is that the point you’re making?

A:    As I understand it the process of accreditation has been there all the time, the requirements to be accredited have changed at various times.

Q:    Yes, they have developed, is that correct?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Just finally Dr Wain, could you take up your volume of exhibits and go please to p65, this is the annual statistical report of 1998, as we see from p63, for cancer screening in your state?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And on p65 we see a list of contributors.   First of all from the screening programme, and secondly fm the Pap test register.   And I wanted to just have your assistance please on the various mix of disciplines that your programme and register use.  You yourself are a gynaecological oncologist.

A:    Correct.

Q:    Professor Taylor, he is an epidemiologist?

A:    Correct.

Q:    Mr Morrell likewise?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Mr Mannon Mamoon? is a statistician?

A:    Yes.

Q:    What qualification do the next two persons have?

A:    Jacqueline Callaghan is, by training, a cyto-technician who, after many years in the laboratory developed an interest in the quality aspects, the more business aspects of organising quality procedures in the laboratory, so by training she’s a cyto-technician who has left the laboratory and is now working in quality area.   The next person has been through a standard training through University and is developing an interest in public health research.

Q:    And the second person who is also a programme manager, what are her qualifications?

A:    She has been a health bureaucrat for many, many years having come through institutions such as the NH and MRC, with extensive experience in health bureaucracies.

Q:   	For the purposes of directing the programme, how important do you think that particular mix of disciplines is?

A:   	That's just a small sample, we have other aspects of the programme and it's vital.  You couldn’t run a programme, I couldn’t be involved in a programme without that sort of assistance.

Q:   	What is some of the other?

A:   	We have the people who have come through a clinical world and who deal very much with clinical, interact with clinical people and they have variety of nursing backgrounds and soforth and they interact very closely with GPs, conduct programmes with our GPs, we have other experts in health promotion who have come through years of the health promotion world and their expertise is directed specifically at getting messages across to women so there’s a mixture of clinical laboratory health promotion, research and epidemiological skills.

Q:   	Now are you talking about the central agency if you like that runs the programme?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Population of NSW is?

A:   	About 4.5 to 5 million people.

Q:   	And how many personnel then have you got in the central unit?

A:   	We have about 12-15 people counting secretarial staff and others.

Q:   	Covering that range of disciplines that you’ve described?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Are they all employees?

A:   	Yes some of them, Richard Taylor for example, is a part-time employee.  So they’re not all full time members of staff.

Q:   	The pap test Register, the director Professor Armstrong, his qualifications?

A:   	He’s an epidemiologist of some standing.

Q:   	Next?

A:   	Sash McCanch actually used to work in the position as clinical quality manager with us.  She was also a cytotechnician by training who followed the same pathway and then took up the position as running the pap test Register so she has technical skills related to cytology and has moved into a management role.  Stephanie Deech is a statistician and data manager.  Paula Valentine has a similar role in coordinating, I think she has a previous career in dealing with health practitioners, health providers so I’ll have to pass on the other.

Q:   	Fine.  Now in this document they’re set up as separate units or they’re described as separate units.  In fact did they operator together, what is the interface?

A:   	The interface is very close, we’d like it to be closer.  The way it works in fact is that the Register – and the separation has some advantages, the Register functions very much as a Register doing a whole range of registry activities which are very time consuming and need meticulous attention and that being as a separate business entity, they are able to concentrate on those Registry aspects.  They if you like generate the data that gets handed over to our programme and we generate a lot of the reports and use the data to interact with all of our activities, for example our recruitment activities are directed towards participation rates so it's a very close interaction.  They if you like carry out the Register functions and collect the data, we analyse the data.

Q:   	Together you produce the annual statistical report?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Are you geographically in the same place?

A:   	No.

Q:   	Thank you.  No further questions.



CHAIR ADDRESS INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	Thank you Mr Corkill.  Does anyone else have any questions?  Yes Mr Kirton.



MR KIRTON XXN WITNESS

MR KIRTON:   	Dr Wain you’ve considered the issue of cytology in the screening pathway or the programme pathway but I want to consider a part of that pathway and that's to do with management of women with abnormalities in the Gisborne area but I would ask you just to confirm in your evidence this morning, you said that the clinical histories of the women that you have observed and considered here, the colposcopy episode of care was almost – was in your words opportunistic or for other reasons is that correct?

A:   	Often.

Q:   	The general impression was that they were presenting for other reasons other than follow up of an abnormality detected in cytology.

A:   	Frequently yes.

Q:   	Would those symptoms that you observed or indeed the presentation that occurred, was that presentation for symptoms typical of either invasive disease or pre-invasive disease?

A:   	I think I’d almost need to take it case by case but in general the symptoms where suggestive of cervical pathology, without being specific about any particular patient.

Q:   	In your practice Dr Wain does that discovery happen often – I’ll put it another way.  Do women present in your experience in those circumstances often, that they’re coming with symptoms of cervical cancer and yet they have not been screened or their screening results are normal?

A:   	The overwhelming majority of patients that I see with cervical cancer have never been screened so I’m nowadays not used to seeing patients who have been screened getting cervical cancer.  It was something of a phenomenon 10 years ago perhaps when we were concerned about it and in my CV I have referred to a paper that Dr Farnsworth and myself wrote in the early 90’s when it was a common presentation but nowadays my overwhelming clinical impression is of patients presenting without ever having been screened so they’re usually presenting with symptoms.  The second part of your question really is what happens with those symptoms, it's disturbingly still the case in my practice that it's the same thing that patients can have symptoms and the penny doesn’t drop that there’s something wrong with the cervix for several months.

Q:   	However you said that it would not be normal for – I’ll restate that.  Women presenting in these circumstances usually are not screened at all.

A:   	That's my clinical experience.

Q:   	And if they present with having been screened with normal results, would that raise a flag with you?

A:   	It certainly did 10 years ago when we put out research together.  Nowadays it's so uncommon and there’s usually an explanation.  The ones I see nowadays for example, one comes to mind that I saw earlier this year was a young woman with a bizarre abnormal cervical cancer that was rapidly lethal and her pap smear was normal so we know that pap smears don’t prevent all cervical cancers.  Nowadays when I see someone whose got cervical cancer and has had pap smears it's usually because of those rarer cases.

Q:   	And would it be good practice in your experience to actually pursue a normal smear result or successive normal smear results, would you seek a history of those smears?

A:   	In general I would, certainly in my dept if a patient develops cervical cancer and she is screened which as I said is unusual, we would normally contact the laboratory and get that smear reviewed and as I’ve said when we’ve done that – we’re really getting down to the unusual cases at that point.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Wain I wonder if I could ask you to go to a supplementary exhibit of  - it's not in evidence yet I understand but will be.



CHAIR INTERJECTS 

CHAIR:   	This is the supplementary of the DuRose exhibit which I understand has been circulated to everyone, is that right Mr Murray, that’s what Madam Registrar told me?

MR MURRAY:   Supplement to exhibit 10, yes.

CHAIR:   Do you not have it Mr Hodson?

MR HINDLE:   The supplement exhibit, are you thinking of the one that came in as 87 in Ms Mellor’s supplementary?

CHAIR:   No, this is a supplement to Exhibit JD/HFA/10 – Jim duRose, Health Funding Authority, that’s what it looks like.   So this is a Cervical Screening Pathology Investigation, Gisborne/Tairawhiti Action Update Report June 2000, that’s what it looks like.

MR HINDLE:   That is 87 in Mellor’s brief.

CHAIR:   So is it already in the brief of evidence?

MR MURRAY:   Yes, it is ma'am, I’m not sure how that got circulated, it shouldn't be – it’s actually Exhibit 87 to Tracey Mellor’s supplementary brief.  If anyone wants a separate volume, fine – it’s actually in a exhibit to be produced by Tracey Mellor as No. 87.   We don’t need that separate volume

CHAIR:   Professor Duggan thought she had found more data.

MR MURRAY:   No, I don’t think so, it should be the same document.  The last page I believe is of interest to Professor Duggan but it’s in the exhibits as well.   At least it is in my volume.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   It’s the same document.  I'm satisfied it’s the same document.

MR MURRAY:   If anyone wants that separate bound volume for convenience, they are welcome to it, but I’m not sure how that got circulated.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Page 52.  Dr Wain, table 5.6 is labelled time period of first diagnosis of cancer.  There are two tables, there's an A and a B.  Table A is time period of 1 diagnosis of cancer by the re-read result category?

A:    Uh huh.

Q:    And table B is time period of first diagnosis of cancer by the original result category?

A:    Uh huh.

Q:   I wonder if you could interpret those tables for me.  If you need a calculator we can supply one.

A:   I feel like this is an exam.

CHAIR:   If it’s treated as a viva voce exam it will be all right.

A:    I would take it to mean that most of the patients diagnosed with cancer or high grade lesions in the period 1991 to February of 1996, which is a total of presumably 23, being the total of the number of cases in this region, or the number of cases in this study that were diagnosed in that period.

Q:    23 refers to the number of women?

A:    the number of women who were diagnosed with cervical cancer, and presumably this is cancer not pre-invasive disease.  All 23 of those patients on review, on the Sydney re-read had abnormal Pap smears.  

Q:    And the abnormal Pap smear results were what?

A:    Listed under the re-read category they were cancer high grade or ASCUS-H inclusive.  And that contrasts to the lower table where of the same 23 women who were diagnosed in that period only 12 of those women had Pap smears suggestive of either cancer or high grade.  So to put it another way, all 23 women were detected by the Sydney re-read and only half of the women were detected by the original results.  The subsequent women – to go to the next and the one after column, the same general principles apply.  In fact they’re more stark down the bottom, the 7 and 9 women who developed high grade – sorry, that’s 7 and 9 women who developed cervical cancer in the 2 subsequent periods all had abnormal Pap smears on the Sydney re-read and none of them had abnormalities detected by Dr Bottrill.   That would be my interpretation of that table.

Q:    And the abnormalities detected by the Sydney re-read for those 16 women by Sydney?

A:    Which 16 – oh, the second.   The 16 were in the first period, 7 of them were high grade abnormalities and 9 of them were – sorry, 6 were cancer and 3 were high grade, so they were all high grade abnormalities.

Q:    You don’t need to go to this page but I’ll read it to you.   On p23 of this exhibit, 9.3.3, the title is “Women diagnosed with cervical cancer”, 39 women have been diagnosed with cervical cancer.  Of these 23 were diagnosed before Dr Bottrill retired in 1996, 7 were diagnosed between 1996 and April 1999, 9 have been diagnosed since May of 1999.  Table 5.6 refers to this 39 cancers.  Would you agree Dr Wain?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And you agree because?

A:    Because the numbers are the same.

Q:    I actually have the calculator and you don’t, so I can put this to you:  From Table 5.6B, which is Dr Bottrill’s reporting, over the 3 time periods of the 39 women who developed cancer 6 had smears reported as cancer?

A:    Yes.

Q:    6 had smears reported as high grade?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Five had smears reported as low grade?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Four had smears reported as ASCUS?

A:    Yes.

Q:    17 had smears reported as normal?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And one had a smear reported as outside normal limits?

A:    Yes.

Q:    If you go to the re-read table, which is 5.6A, and do the same exercise, of the 39 women who developed cancer 17 had smears interpreted by the Sydney laboratory as cancer?

A:    Yes.

Q:    20 had smears interpreted as high grade?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And 2 had smears interpreted as ASCUS-H?

A:    Yes.

Q:   Would you agree with this summary, that all of the women who developed cancer were re-read by Sydney as cancer high grade or ASCUS-H?

A:    Yes.

Q:   Whereas only 12, which is 30% of the women who developed cancer had their smears read by Dr Bottrill as cancer or high grade?

A:    I would agree with that.

Q:   	What do those rates mean to you?

A:   	I think that number 1 it confirms to me that the Sydney re-read  is likely to be correct in those women since they’ve all been subsequently shown to have cancer and number 2 that Dr Bottrill wasn’t very good at picking up women with definite abnormalities on their cervix.

Q:   	Could this be under-reporting by Dr Bottrill?

A:   	I think it is almost certainly under-reporting.

Q:   	Could it be anything else?

A:   	When you compare the two I can’t think of anything else that it could be.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	From that table alone are you able to give an indication of the level of under-reporting?

A:   	It's extreme.

CHAIR:   	On a 10 point scale, with 1 being the lowest, 10 being the highest, where would you put the level of under-reporting on the basis of that table which is table 5.6 in the exhibit 87 of Mellor’s supplementary?

A:   	I feel like an olympic judge! I’ve heard you ask that question yesterday and thought it was a very difficult question I think this is as bad as it gets.

Q:   	So where would you put it.

A:   	10.

Q:   	You’d give it a 10.  And would you say that was unacceptable under-reporting?

A:   	Completely unacceptable.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Wain I have one further question about this table.  You have already mentioned that in your practice the women who present with invasive cancer  have not been screened and it's rare for you to manage a woman with invasive cancer  who has had a pap smear.  Looking at these two tables here what can you say about these women who have developed invasive cancer  in the Tairawhiti region?

A:   	It certainly doesn’t match with my clinical experience and they have been very unlucky to have developed cervical cancer despite the fact that they’ve gone through the process of having pap smears.  They’re a screened population but they’ve got no benefit from screening.

Q:   	Thank you.



MR KIRTON CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR KIRTON:   	Professor Duggan keeps asking all my questions!  I do want to just finish off this segment on the management of those women that did present and were determined to have cervical cancer [sic] and talking a little on the specific patients involved perhaps you could turn to I think it's patient 1 at page 4 on my document near the bottom of the page 23 December 1994 do you see that?

A:   	The page are different so I’ll  follow the dates.  23 December 1994.

Q:   	That was the date of the colposcopy examination in Gisborne hospital is that correct?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	You’ll see there moving up the page to the date 7 December 1994 smear report by Dr Bottrill do you see that?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And he reports an abnormal CIN II CIN III at that point.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Going further up the page to 27 May 1992, smear reported by Dr Bottrill no atypical cells seen.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	That's a time period of two years or less than two years between that date and the date of colposcopy.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Would it be surprising given that normal smear history to diagnose severe dysplasia CIN III on that 23 December time?  Would you expect that progression of the disease in that period of time?

A:   	In two years to go from normal to CIN III?

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	No I don’t think that's unusual at all people generally find that surprising but I don’t find it at all surprising I think we have introduced the notion of, I refer to it as the numerical nature of this disease and people widely assume that you have to go from 0-1-2-3-cancer but I don’t think that's at all the nature of the disease and I think many cervical abnormalities start denovo as a high grade lesion so going from normal to CIN III is not at all surprising to me and what surprises me is that everybody else finds it surprising.

Q:   	Turning over the page to your assessment of the circumstances of patient 1, you say this patient obviously underwent regular screening over several years with the total of 6 smears in 6 years prior to diagnosis, all smears were reported as essentially normal until presentation with obvious cervical cancer.  Would you have expected the gynecologist  to have picked up the smear history on this woman before – would have considered the smear history upon diagnosis of cancer?

A:   	I would have expected the gynecologist  to look at that and say what’s going to here.  I recall that's similar to the time that Dr Farnsworth and I published our paper and there was a lot of discussion in the literature and at meetings at that time about the concept of rapidly progressive cancer and people were talking about this as what happened then and one of the reasons we started out our paper at that time as actually, we when we commenced that research believed in that concept as well and wanted to get a cohort of patients to look at their cancers to see what was the feature about that and we thought the starting point of that study was to go back and look at the pap smear histories of those women so we started out with the same belief and it's roughly the same time.  I convinced myself from that research that that entity didn’t exist and we subsequently published that paper and I think it's become generally accepted that rapid onset cancers do not exist or they are extraordinarily rare, they are not a common phenomenon but I would imagine at that time that it wouldn’t be surprising for a gynecologist  to say here’s another rapid onset cancer.  I think it's probably unfair to say what we know now was being applied in those days.

Q:   	Fair enough.  However can I just take you to one more.  Just if we go to I think it's patient 2, yes it is, my page 6, 19 May 1993.  You see that date?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And there we have colposcopy undertaken by Dr Moss?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And diagnosis CACS.

A:   	No that was family history of carcinoma of the cervix.

Q:   	Thank you for correcting me on that.  SCJ clearly seen.

A:   	Squama columna junction clearly seen.

Q:   	And the biopsy was CIN III.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Again you wouldn’t necessarily be alerted to the 30 April normal smear result would you?

A:   	Not necessarily.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Could you just pause there.  While you’re on that page, for the report on 19 May 1993 where there’s report from the colposcopy it says SCJ clearly seen and then it says a moderate small aceto white area seen smallpolip. Could that be keratinization.

A:   	The aceto white area is really just an area of the abnormal cells, probably the area if CIN III I don’t think I’ve ever seen colposcopies trying to make the distinction between keratinization and non-keratinization.  The aceto white area is really just the abnormal area so I don’t think any colposcopist would subdivide it further.



MR KIRTON:   I think just finally if we could go to patient 7, and you make a comment in your commentary on that, the last para just above the heading “patient 8” there's a para beginning “there may remain some questions regarding the clinical management at the time of the smears and whether there was a failure to recognise or investigate an abnormality in the cervix, particularly in the presence of heavy blood-stained smear.”  Is that the extent of your criticism of the clinical management of this cohort of patients?

A:    I found just from review these patients that I couldn't make any general comments about the clinical management.  There were circumstances where perhaps if you’d been there you might have done something different or something, but it wasn’t a startling appearance.   This was – and again I wasn’t really being particularly critical here, it was just, it sounds like there was something – there was enough there to comment that the patient bled when the Pap smear was taken, it sounded like it was a little bit abnormal 

Q:    but you had to be there?

A:    Yeah, I’m not saying, “Oh, my God, they’ve missed the problem”, but it was enough to write in the notes that there was a problem and perhaps a more astute clinician might have done something differently, but that’s very much looking backwards.   But I was struck throughout that there weren't startling examples where patients were being clinically badly managed.

Q:    And you make that point at para 27, “there is no consistent pattern of poor clinical behaviour or management seen in relation to the woman.”

A:    Again, I only looked at 9 cases.

Q:    A small cohort.   However, would you agree that in terms of improved clinical management, particularly in a location such as Tairawhiti, that the referral to the colposcopist should include their smear history.  Would that assist them in their role and should that be a part of regular practice or good practice in the region?

A:    I think it’s part of good clinical care of women with cervical abnormalities.  Anyone with the interest in cervical disease enough to do colposcopies would I think find that an important part of their clinical care and the quality care.

Q:    yes.  Is it a part of your clinical practice in Australia to receive a printout, for example, from the register.

A:    No, we’re not that organised at all;  it would be a matter of taking a clinical history from a patient and then going back.   We have the mechanism, for example, in NSW, that if I as a doctor with a patient next to me want to find out her history I can ring up the pap test register and they will give me her history, but it’s not always a routine thing.  There's no printouts provided or anything as sophisticated as that.

Q:    so it’s a phone call from your perspective, is it?

A:    It’s a phone call from me to them and then they, for confidentiality they hang up, check my identity and ring me back with the results.  So it’s actually, as a practising clinician, a bit of a nuisance, so it’s not something that I’m sure lots of clinicians use.

Q:    In this day of technology would it be useful to in fact be on line for, for example, a hard copy printout of that smear history?

A:    It would be very desirable and I’m sure we will be in the near future, relatively near future, but I think all the privacy and IT issues involved in that it’s not going to happen tomorrow.

Q:    Finally, if I could turn to the cervical screening guidelines and these are the NZ version, your exhibit contains the Australian version from my reading, and yours are page, if you go to –

A:   I’ve got the Australian ones I haven’t got the New Zealand ones.

Q:   Just take up the NZ version.  That’s Glackin volume 9, tab 50.  I just want to consider for a moment the standards for colposcopy service in NZ, if you could turn to p19, the comment at the top of the page, “There appears to have been a general improvement in training and performance of colposcopy in NZ, however much colposcopy is performed in relative isolation and without any review process.”  Is that an experience that you have in Australian circumstances?

A:    I think it’s still pretty close to the Australian experience as well.

Q:    And you have standards of practice or guidelines relating to that?

A:    We currently do not have any standards of practice.   There is a document that has been produced by the Australian College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists and the Australian Society of Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology.   That has been still held up in the release process for a variety of reasons.  So at this stage in Australia there are no published or accepted standards about colposcopy.

Q:    So there is no equivalent guideline as we’ve got in front of you?



CHAIR:   Just so that we can be clear about this:   when you use the word “standard”, what do you mean Dr Wain?

A:    I probably use it in two respects, one is the general standard of behaviour and activity that doctors do;  the second one is a specific published, endorsed document such as the standards in laboratories which we have, or such a document like this.

Q:    And in respect of that second group of standards, from your understanding of the word, does a standard permit any variation from the standard?

A:    Usually, they're usually written to permit some variation.

Q:    Is that variation specified within the standard?

A:    Sometimes, it depends what the standard’s about.

Q:    Is a standard in your view compulsory or voluntary?

A:    In my view it depends what standards you're talking about.  Sometimes standards are designed to regulate laboratories, for example, and sometimes they're compulsory.   Sometimes they are designed to improve clinical practice, and so by their nature they become voluntary.

Q:    if a standard is voluntary do you still see it as a standard or do you see it more as a guideline?

A:    It’s probably more technically a guideline.

Q:    what I’m trying to get to is a clear understanding of the difference between standards, guidelines – other words we hear used are benchmarks as well.   What do you understand a benchmark to be?

A:    A benchmark is to me usually a quantitative term, to measure something, for example, the number of abnormalities found in a laboratory or the correlation between colposcopy and biopsy, for example.  And you usually come up with a benchmark that a certain % of something should be the same as something else or something like that.   And by their nature some clinical things are very hard to put benchmarks on, that’s why sometimes I’m familiar with the British standards of colposcopy which are actually more about process measures, about what sort of facilities should be available for colposcopies and things.  I think many groups around the world have tried to get quantitative standards for colposcopy and it’s proven to be technically very difficult.  Australia ran a pilot quality assurance project several years ago about colposcopy.  It was logistically and technically a very complex exercise and it hasn’t continued for a variety of reasons because of the complexity.  It’s not easy to design those sort of projects.   It’s easy to design them, it’s not easy to get them implemented.

Q:    The NZ document which you have in front of you, which comes from Glackin volume 9, tab 51, is headed “Guidelines for the management of women with abnormal cervical smears”, and I see that your exhibit appears at p341 of your exhibit, which is exhibit 8, is also called national health and medical research counsel guidelines for the management of women with screen detected abnormalities.   Are you aware of any differences between  these two documents.  

A:   	I’ve never seen this New Zealand document before so I can’t comment.  I would hazard a guess that they’re very similar.



MR KIRTON CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR KIRTON:   		Just returning to the New Zealand document Dr Wain, if I could take you to the bottom of page 19 the third line from the bottom after the bracket, and be an active member of a multi disciplinary team involved in ongoing audit of the cytology colposcopy and histology of women presenting with abnormal smears.  Is it your Australian experience or are you involved yourself in a multi disciplinary team in that way?

A:   	Yes my clinical practice deals mainly with invasive gynecological cancers.  My clinical practice doesn’t deal a lot with the management of abnormal pap smears but certainly in my institution there is a colposcopy group that meets with the pathologists and does such a thing and that's typical in many departments around the country.  They would certainly in teaching hospitals have those sorts of meetings.

Q:   	The next page, page 20 about 5 lines down, the sentence beginning in smaller centres, one individual should be responsible for cases marked with an asterix which are abnormal cases.  All colposcopists should regularly review the results of their assessment and treatment with their peers and cytopathologists.  Is that something that is common practice in Australia in isolation circumstances at the moment or it is good practice in Australia?

A:   	I think it would be variable.  There are some individuals who do this very well and very carefully have pathologist groups, I know for example a provincial centre where I go to where the gynecologists do this but I’m sure there are gynecologists practicing in other areas that don’t do it as well. I think there is considerable variation about the amount of effort that colposcopists or gynecologists put in to this type of endeavor.

Q:   	Does that pose a risk to women who may be presenting with abnormal smears?

A:   	It's difficult for me to say that.  I think that the complex things about colposcopy are the discussion with women about the results, the discussion of what the results mean and the correct application of treatment.  The actual colposcopic skills themselves without undermining those, are relatively straightforward so I think what’s important with colposcopists is more to do with the communication with the patient and assessment of results than the actual technical skills so I guess I’ve never been a great advocate for a lot of focus on the technical details of colposcopy because it's, I don’t mean to dismiss it, but I think it's a relatively simple exercise.

Q:   	So it's the issues around the entire programme that are more important is that what your saying.

A:   	Yes.  But the gynecologist  clearly has an important role.  I guess I’m putting it another way.  It's harder for a gynecologist  to make significant errors.  As long as the colposcopy is performed in an acceptable manner for the woman, the results are discussed properly that the process systems are there in place and the biopsy is taken from the colposcopic abnormality, that to me is a relatively straightforward process.

Q:   	But if the gynecologist  had more knowledge of the entire screening pathway they are in a better position are they not to pick up –

A:   	And that's where the correlation with histology and cytology becomes very important, the multi disciplinary meetings where they look at the smears and they look at the biopsies and put it all together.

Q:   	Would you regard the circumstances in Tairawhiti or around New Zealand in fact to demonstrate that gynecologists have an undeveloped sense of the programme and require greater education around it?

A:   	I don’t think I’m familiar enough with gynecologists outside of this area to answer this question.

Q:   	That's all I have Dr Wain.



CHAIR ADDRESSES INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	We’ll adjourn for the morning tea break but before that Mr Murray you want to go next?

MR MURRAY:   	Yes.

CHAIR:   	Is there anyone else?

MR HODSON:   	Yes.

CHAIR:   	That's fine.  We’ll deal with that afterwards and adjourn to 11:20.



INQUIRY RETIRNES FOR MORNING ADJOURNMENT AT 11:05



INQUIRY RESUMES AT 11:26 A.M.



MR MURRAY XXN WITNESS

MR MURRAY:   	Just a very preliminary point in relation to the study you did of the clinical information about patients 1-9, did that information in each case show you that the Sydney re-read  result for each of those patients was consistent with the clinical information.

A:   	Certainly.  I thought it was consistent in fact the subsequent outcomes which are there couldn’t probably be explained other than the Sydney re-read  was correct.

Q:   	A completely different topic but I don’t think we’ve covered it, could you briefly just give us a snapshot of how the national programme in Australia, the National screening programme relates to the State programmes.

A:   	Like most areas of health in Australia it's very complex because there’s two health systems.  On a whole range of topics, for example coming down to funding of health services, hospital services are funded usually by State Governments, GP services are usually funded by Medicare and therefore are federal things so services done inside hospitals are funded by State health Departments, services done outside hospitals are funded by the Commonwealth Government and like that, cervical screening has a whole lot of similar breakdowns and the way it's worked is that the Federal Government has set agreements with each State Government with outcome performance agreements and funding.  Each State is expected to meet those targets and those targets are things like participation rates and the Fed Government then provides funding to the State Departments to carry out those activities.  In practice what it does is that the Commonwealth aims to coordinate in general those things that are seen to be national so for example agreement about the national screening policy is agreed at a national level. Accreditation of laboratories for example is seen as a national entity because laboratories are funded through Medicare so that is largely a national task, recruitment activities however are a bit of a mixture, recruitment health promotional activities are seen very much as largely belonging to the States because they’re at the population level and directly related to those so more of the population recruitment activities are done at the State, except for things like expensive media campaigns that might be run at a national level so it's a whole mixture of things, hopefully a working arrangement, but some things it's complicated so it's really those areas that are seen to be more relevant at particular levels.

Q:   	I don’t know whether you are familiar, you probably are, with the World Health Organisation  criteria for screening programmes.  I think the first item on that criteria is that there be a strong central office to run the programme.  Do I take it from your last answer that doesn't apply in Australia because of the fragmentation of responsibility between the federal government and state governments?

A:    It doesn't apply at a national level so much, but I think it’s better to think of it as 6 states – no, 8 and two territories.   If you like, what's referred to as the national co-ordination that is more akin to the state co-ordinating bodies and each of the states have equivalent processes.   And I think that’s appropriate.  It would be very difficult and less effective I think if those sorts of activities were all run out of Canberra for example.   They’ve concentrated more on the policy, and they do have a – I didn't mean to under-estimate the central body as a national programme – there's a national Advisory Committee of the programme for example.   What I was suggesting is that the more national topic are put on their agenda the more local based agendas are put on the state agenda.   So I think Australia probably has both.  It probably has a national body and a state body.

Q:    Is the national body – this might be simplistic, but is the federal government responsibility more of an overall policy role, whereas the state government’s responsibilities are more to do with operational implementation of a policy?

A:    that’s probably a bit simplistic, but it’s close to what happens in practice, yes.



CHAIR:   The system you're describing Dr Wain, is this a common feature of the federal government system in Australia where the national government at Canberra has to work with the various state governments?

A:    In all areas of health, because of the mixture of funding mechanisms, in almost all areas they have to work with state governments and there's a whole lot of agreements between governments about how that’s carried out in practice.

Q:    My understanding is that in Australia it has its own developed body of conflict of laws which deals with the legal tensions with a federal system with the national government and a state government?

A:    I’m sure you are correct.  In practical terms it has a whole lot of difficulties, just in simple things as to who pays the bills for certain activities.  The Pap smear for example is done in a hospital and the hospital pays for it, which is not very common.

Q:    So what you are describing, in terms of this fragmentation between responsibility at the federal level and at the state level is not something unique to the screening programme is it?

A:    Not at all.  One of the things I didn't mention perhaps, in relation to the registers, all of the registers are state registers.  And that in itself has problems with exchange of information between each thing.   There is no national register in Australia.  Each state has its own register.   So some of the problems, for example, which are overcome with negotiation, but they add to the complexity of exchange of data between each register.

Q:    And each state can have its own rules and regulations can it not?

A:    Each state does have its own rules and regulations because each state has developed these registers under each of their own legislation.   So the rules about each register, for example, of the legislation for which they are set up under, does vary from state to state.

Q:    If you are a medical practitioner in Australia do you have to get registered in each state?

A:    Yes, you do.

Q:    So you couldn't practice in Western Australia unless you'd been registered there?

A:    You couldn't, no, but it’s a relatively simple process if you are registered in one to get mutual registration, but it means going through the process of being registered.

Q:    that’s just another aspect of the state government in the federal system isn’t it?

A:    Yes.   I didn't realise we were going to get questioned about the -

Q:    Well, we’re looking at that in comparison to the NZ situation where when we started we had 14 registers which fitted with the 14 Area Health Boards and we have moved to a single register, because we of course are not a federal system here.

A:    I think in that sense NZ is much more like NSW than it is like Australia.  So the population is relatively similar, we have 17 area health services, which is the next tier down.   We have one central body co-ordinating screening activities in NSW but we have activities in each of the 17 area health services, but we certainly don’t have registers in each of the 17 area health services.

Q:    And when you get to this point of just taking NSW as the example and the 17 Area Health Boards, is the screening programme run from a unified sort of unit within the NSW system or is part of the screening programme’s responsibilities fragmented between the 17 Area Health Boards?

A:    A bit of both, and again it really follows down from how national relates to the state.  Again, some things are seen as state-wide activities, discussion with laboratories and generation of data for example and a lot of the sort of principles of recruitment activity, but when it comes to a lot of direct one to one involvement with clinicians or with health promotion activities or recruitment activities at a local area level, the area health services have a role as well.   We provide funds to area health services to carry out specific activities in that area, but they don’t –

Q:    When you say “we” provide funds – who is we?

A:    We, the cervical screening programme.

Q:    So your programme actually has a funding control and you can fund the Area Health Boards?

A:    Yes.

Q:    You don’t operate a programme then where there is bulk funding from government to the Area Health Boards and they then decide how that money will be spent in respect of programme activities?

A:    their bulk funding is, for example, to run hospitals.   Part of that is doing colposcopy services and things, so the clinical activities are funded through that bulk funding but the specific cervical activities such as running recruitment activities or health promotion activities or whatever you like, there's a whole range of activities I've detailed in our strategic plan.  Getting groups together to look at colposcopy services for example in a local area, they're usually funded by that additional funding that we specifically give.

Q:    And do you get targeted from the state government?

A:    the funding we receive is by a contract and it’s linked, it comes in turn from the federal government which is given as a specific – sorry, I correct that.  The federal government provides funds to each state government under an agreement called the Public Health Outcomes Agreement.   That used to be specific funding for cervical screening but several years ago a number of programmes were combined – breast, cervix, and several others – so the state now has block funding for 8 public health activities and the state can decide amongst themselves.   That’s had no impact in my state, for example, because we've received the same funding throughout.   But theoretically a state could decide that, for example, immunization is a bigger problem this year than cervical screening and they could shift funding from one programme to another.   That’s the state’s prerogative to decide what the priority is.

Q:    And when you get funding, who are the providers that you pay as opposed to those providers being paid directly through the state or from the federal government as part of the general bulk funding?

A:    Almost completely. with a very tiny exception, we don’t provide any funding for clinical services.  All of the funding that we have for our programme is for programme activities such as recruitment activities, health promotion activities, statistical analysis, generation of reports.   All of that activity.  With a tiny exception, we don’t provide any money for clinical services – that all comes out of the general Medicare budget.

Q:    and when you do your statistical reports, are they done by staff that are in-house;  in other words, employed by the programme, or do you contract out?

A:    No, they are done by in-house staff.

Q:    And you, therefore, and I might be going over ground Mr Corkill covered, but you have sufficient qualified staff to allow you to do your statistical analysis?

A:    Yes, and we couldn't function without that.  And they are in-house and they have access to the data so that if a question comes up, for example, they can very quickly generate the appropriate response, the appropriate analyses.

Q:    And does the staff include an epidemiologist?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And a biostatistician?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Sorry, Mr Murray, I am departing a bit from the federal state tension which I just wanted to have clarified.



MR MURRAY:   You have sort of covered the territory I was getting into, and better than I, so that’s useful.  Just coming out of that though I think you have answered this generally but in relation to funding of laboratories I take it from your answer just a moment ago that your state programme doesn’t fund laboratories directly because that's a finical service.

A:   	That's correct.

Q:   	And that funding comes from Medicare does it.

A:   	Almost completely, there’s a minute fraction done within public hospital laboratories which would be funded by the state Government but that is increasingly minute.

Q:   	And with the valuation in monitoring, is that the responsibility that you have running a State programme.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	That's done at the State level.

A:   	That's not quite correct.  It's also done at Federal level as well and that’s in fact contracted out to the Australian Institute of Health & Welfare and part of our agreements are to provide data to the national monitoring body and there’s a lot of agreements about which data gets transferred and soforth so that they can generate national reports.  We generate local reports they generate national reports and if you compare the two of them they are slightly different, coming from different perspectives.

Q:   	And do you monitor the quality of the statistical information yourself?

A:   	Personally?

Q:   	Well your programme at the State level?

A:   	I’m not quite sure what you mean.  We’re involved in producing the reports of –

Q:   	You produce the State statistical reports so you’d be responsible for that, you also make use of the national statistical information.

A:   	Certainly.  They have a couple of slightly different indicators but for example the key one is participation rates so we would be constantly looking at how the participation rates in different areas of the country are being reported.  NSW I am ashamed to say has one of the lowest participation rates in Australia.

Q:   	And I think we heard from Dr Farnsworth yesterday it's only relatively recently that the incidence of cervical cancer, statistical information has become available so that you can use that for evaluation and monitoring is that the position?

A:   	We’ve had incidence of cervical cancer figures for quite a long time, a very long time I’d say and we’ve had regional variations about cervical cancer certainly in NSW that data is generated by a third group that I hadn’t mentioned is the NSW Cancer Registry which is also managed by the NSW Cancer Council who manage the Pap Test Register so the Pap Test Register are co-located with the Cancer Registry and that Cancer Registry has been generated cancer incidence figures of NSW for as long as I can remember.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	How long would that be can you just put a –

A:   	I think they started in 75 for example and they’ve produced an annual report, it's always a couple of years late.

Q:   	Is it mandatory in NSW to send information to the Cancer Registry recorded incidence of cancer and cancer mortality.

A:   	The diagnosis of a cancer is reportable under law to the Cancer Registry.

Q:   	Do you know that has been the law in NSW?

A:   	I think since 1975 but it might be out by a couple of years.



MR MURRAY CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR MURRAY:   	And the two registers are co-located but not interlinked.

A:   	That's true.  That's partly because they exist under different legislations and there needed to be agreements and permission from ethics committees for example to transfer information.

Q:   	And as I understood Dr Farnsworth there was still a difficulty though with evaluating the programme if individual patient information was required to then do a retrospective study of the screening background.

A:   	Yes the legislation that governs the Pap Test Register for example is very specific that information that may identify a patient is completely confidential.

Q:   	Do you happen to know the name of that legislation?

A:   	Yes it's in my brief.  I think it's the Public Health Amendment Act 1996.

Q:   	Just coming to screening programmes generally do I take it that's it received wisdom now that running a cervical screening programme is a very complex matter?

A:   	I think it's extraordinarily complex yes.

Q:   	Just casting your experience back to the early 1990’s do you think the full complexity of running a cervical screening programme was understood in the early 1990’s?

A:   	I’m not sure it's understood now but I think the principals, that corresponds to when Australia started to get things together like registers and other aspects.  It was understood I guess then what wasn’t done in many places was getting it done well with some obvious exceptions around the world.

Q:   	In the early 1990’s when New Zealand was setting up it's programme internationally was there any model we could have looked at or where we like other countries having to develop a programme for ourselves as we went along?

A:   	I think I’d answer that by whatever model you look at, it relates to what happens in your own country.  For example some of the successful Scandinavian countries have had long standing population registers with patient identifiers so running a Register there for example is part of life anyway, they run Registers for a whole lot of things and it's simply a matter of putting it onto their numbers and the mechanics of running that sort of programme are very simple in that environment for example.  You can say OK we’ll take that model to my country, but as I understand it my country doesn’t have such a unique identifier for patients so you can say it's a great idea but it doesn’t immediately transfer.  The methods of accreditation the way we fund our laboratories in Australia through Medicare is different from the way you fund laboratories so transferring one thing just across the Tasman doesn’t apply.  However you can come up with the principals of a screening programme but you have to apply it to the way your medical system works and each country is different in that sense so it's one thing to say yes we’ll take a model from British Columbia or Scandinavia or something but there are geographical factors in British Columbia for example that make it easier to do that.  There are different factors in Victoria than there are in NSW.

Q:   	And with commencing a programme I suppose moving from opportunistic screening to having a programme is it unusual as far as you know to start off with emphasis on the enrollment of women onto a programme so that the systematic screening of women with the objective of follow up treatment as the basics of getting a programme started or would one be expected to have all the ingredients of a programme in place on day 1 before you launch it.

A:   	Well if you’re talking about cervical screening it's not like you decide to start something.  Cervical screening has always been around so so much of our activity is actually stopping what people have done traditionally and just an example is it used to be common practice to have annual pap smears.  There was no particular reason why that was the case but people believed you have to have annual pap smears.  When it was agreed to have in Australia for example a 2 year screening interval, then it becomes a matter of trying to change behavior so it's not like you’re starting out from the beginning like you were with a breast screening programme for example where you can design it and do it all and then start the programme.  In cervical screening there is a whole lot of clinical activity going on.  Just because you decide to have a programme, that doesn’t start doing cervical screening.  There’s a whole lot of it going on out there and it's a matter of trying to organise what’s going on out there and getting it done in a systematic manner and having a Register for that's important but it's not the end of the story having a Register.

Q:   	And that has been an evolutionary process in Australia?

A:   	It certainly has and hopefully will continue to be.

Q:   	Thank you.



MR HODGSON XXN WITNESS

MR HODSON:   	Dr Wain just one particular topic arising from paragraph 37 of your brief, to obtain reimbursement for processing, a laboratory has always needed to be accredited, I think that's actually the late 80’s isn’t it.

A:   	I said always because I didn't know when it started.

Q:    Can you tell me if, in practice, that resulted in laboratories actually participating in the RCPA external quality assurance programme immediately or whether that was a process of attainment going on as late as 92 or 93?

A:    I think you're likely to be correct, the requirements for NATA accreditation have evolved over the time and I don’t know, myself, precisely when it became compulsory to belong to that.  I don’t have that information I’m sorry.

Q:    Thank you.  You’ve examined the records of patients 1 to 9, that there has been an indication of a number of other patients who wish to give evidence, their briefs haven't yet been accepted.  Have you reviewed those briefs?

A:    I read the briefs of evidence of those patients, yes.

Q:    But you’ve not seen those patient records?

A:    No, I haven’t seen those patient records.

Q:    Thank you.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Dr Wain, could you clarify something for me in your brief of evidence.  In para 5 you said “I have been asked to review the patient files and records”.  On patients 1 to 9 you did review the records on these patients?

A:    Yes.



CHAIR:   But you haven’t seen any medical records for patients 

A:    11 to 20.

Q:    11 to 20.

A:    There is no patient 10 as I understand it.

Q:    We haven’t seen those briefs because, of course, they haven’t been –

MR HODSON:   I know ma'am.  I really shouldn't comment on them until they come in.

CHAIR:   No, though to what degree were the conclusions you reached influenced by what you read in the briefs of patients 11 to 20?

A:    I’d say they were influential in confirming my impressions.   The first group was 9 patients and a variety of things happened, and without even taking notes about the other patients I had the sense that the second 10 the same things happened, so –

Q:    Well, you only have what those patients say.   You haven't seen their medical notes, there's nothing to corroborate what they say?

A:    That’s correct.

MR HODSON:   The difficulty ma'am is that, as I pointed out to counsel assisting some little while ago, if those patients do come forward on the research I've done had no smears ever read by Dr Bottrill.   That sort of discrepancy arises and there are other factors as well.

CHAIR:   I think that the problem is that the witness has been shown briefs which haven't been accepted in evidence which does create a problem, particularly now that he has said it’s influenced him.  I think that, to the degree that you would want to contradict anything said in the briefs, it’s probably if you do take it up with this witness now so that we can ask him at the end whether, having heard these contradictions and having been reminded that the only evidence he has upon which to base his impressions is what the women say in their briefs, which have not been challenged in any way, whether that affects his overall conclusions, and if it does, well, I will have to take note of it for the purposes of the Inquiry and any conclusions drawn from it.  The Inquiry wasn’t aware that he was seeing these briefs, you see.   If we had known it I think we would have approached it differently.



MR HODSON:   I can ask a question which may assist in abbreviating this part, or we can go in a bit more detail.  Having read patients 1 to 9’s records in the detail that you have, you would have formed a view at that stage, I take it?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And you’ve said that your reading of the briefs of the other 11 to 20 influenced that view?

A:    It confirmed my view.

Q:    That’s after.  Would you say it strengthened it?

A:    I’m not sure what’s the difference between confirmed and strengthened.

Q:    Okay.  I think probably all I need do is give you two or three examples, and I've already given one to the panel, that in fact Dr Bottrill did not read any smears from 2 of the patients;  another characteristic of one of the patients is that the brief does not in any way reflect what happened, particularly that one patient, having been reported CIN III in August 1999, then refused treatment in the face of oral and written advice and eventually came to LLETZ biopsy only on 9 December, an interval of some 4 or 5 months.

A:    Uh huh.

Q:    Another example is that one of the patients described to her GP, which I don’t think’s anywhere in her brief, that in 1995 she was referred for colposcopy which she experienced in some district other than Gisborne.  But there's nothing whatever in the notes about that.  And finally a characteristic of these patients is the number of smears read by locums rather than by Dr Bottrill, which incidentally is the explanation for my saying he never read any smears from two patients.  Now really all I’m saying to you is does that affect your view?  I know it’s very hard without looking at them individually.

A:    It’s not exactly what I was going to say.  I don’t even have an accurate recall of the clinical scenarios, I remember there were several patients who presented with advanced disease;  there were also a couple of patients who presented with relatively insignificant abnormalities.  I’d like to know in more detail if the ones that you're referring to were the ones with the insignificant abnormality.   It sounds like the one who had treatment last year is similar to one of the patients in the first set, so my guess, and I emphasise that I’m guessing here, is that it probably wouldn't make any difference, the information that you’ve given to me about those, coupled to my poor recall of the records would suggest to me that it won’t make any difference to my conclusion.

Q:    Ds it reinforce the point that has been made by all the specialists, until Dr Farnsworth, that to really comprehend what has happened in Gisborne you need to do patient studies particularly of those who progress to invasion.

A:    I think what I experienced was more in the nature of qualitative research.  It was obviously not a quantitative study of all the patients who have cervical cancer like the data we looked at this morning, for example, was.   But it was a qualitative study of the sorts of experiences of patients, the stories of patients developing these sort of things.  So I guess I interpreted – I would say that my conclusions were really based on qualitative research rather than quantitative research – the fact that a couple of patients here or there did something differently, I don’t think changes my conclusions about the whole story.

Q:    I wouldn't for one moment denigrate in any way at all the real human cost of not only the process that the patients have been through but of the course of this Inquiry and the material that’s been revealed.  That would be fair comment, you wouldn’t either?

A:    No.

Thank you.



CHAIR:   You weren’t in any way influenced at an emotional level, and therefore your opinion be influenced in that way, by the nature of the evidence you read?

A:    It was a very emotional experience reading it, but I don’t think that influenced my technical conclusion about the management of these patients.

Q:   	And earlier on this morning you were shown from Ms Mellor’s supplementary evidence exhibit 87 table 5.6.  

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And you gave evidence on what you saw that table indicating.  On the basis of that table alone firstly what does the information contained in that table when analysed in the way that you did with Dr Duggan this morning point to?

A:   	I was thinking of that table while Mr Hodson was talking and I think that table is more powerful to me that the evidence of patients 11-20.  The 9 patients I saw, not all of them had cancer, I think from memory 7 of them had invasive carcinoma, two of them had pre-invasive disease, so that means of the 39 women who have developed cancer, I have seen the stories and the clinical records of at least 7 over 39 whatever percentage that is.  Sorry I’ve seen a sample of those patients.

Q:   	And on the strength of this table along, table 5.6 in exhibit 87, putting everything else out of your mind, what conclusion do you draw about whether or not there has been under-reporting?

A:   	As I said earlier I’m sure that there has been under-reporting.  All of these women developed cancer.

Q:   	And before you when asked to give some value to the under-reporting you had placed at 10 and said you considered it to be unacceptable.  Are you able to stand by that comment on the strength of this table alone or do you depend on other factors to reach that conclusion.

A:   	I would put my experience of reading the clinical records of the patients and this table together as evidence of completely unacceptable information, unacceptable reporting.

Q:   	When you say clinical records what are you referring to?

A:   	I’m referring to the first 9 patients.

Q:   	And on the strength of this table alone putting out of your mind the clinical note at all, what does the table indicate to you, just look at the table and tell me what does that indicate to you?

A:   	It indicates to me that all of t patients who developed cancer in this relevant time period had an abnormal pap smear and could have been detected if that pap smear had been interpreted correctly but a relatively small proportion of the patients with cervical cancer were detected as a result of the pap smears.

Q:   	And what explanation would you give for that?  How did that situation come about to your way of thinking?  Can you come to a view on the strength of this table?

A:   	Most likely that the pap smears were read incorrectly.

Q:   	And given the number that's set out in this table does that allow you to come to any conclusion generally about the level of reading of pap smears?

A:   	Yes I’d say it was very poor.

Q:   	And in respect of the total women in this table whose smears were read, does it indicate under-reporting by the original laboratory?

A:   	Repeat that.

Q:   	In terms of the women in this table, not thinking generally but just what is shown on this table, if you take this group here, does that show under-reporting?

A:   	Yes I think it does.

Q:   	And just looking at the under-reporting shown by this table alone, can you put a quantitative value on that between 1-10.  I want you to put out of your mind now the clinical notes altogether if you can.  Can you do that?

A:   	I think it's difficult having already said that's it's 10, I still think it's very bad, so I’ll stick with 10.

Q:   	Thank you.



CHAIR ADDRESS INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	Any other Council whose got questions?  Mr Corkill.



MR CORKILL ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR CORKILL:   	Ma’am can I just raise an issue that flowed from the conversation involving my learned friend Mr Hodson in the following of the briefs and what have you.  I wish to make it clear that the briefs were filed in accordance with the committee’s direction on 16 June.  The supplementary medical notes were filed about a week ago and so for our part we have done everything –

CHAIR:   	Oh there’s certainly no criticism of you at all it's just my understanding is it seems the briefs were sent to Australia but without clinical notes.  There’s been great pressure of time of course that's one of the problem we’re up against all the time here as we’re having to do everything under such pressure and so what has come about is Dr Wain I understand has not been able to read the clinical notes of the other patients 11-20 which of course really without the clinical notes you can’t make that much of the evidence.

MR CORKILL:   	I understand that Madam Chair the next matter however is the 4 points that were put by my learned friend to this witness on the basis of the evidence I do not, with the greatest of respect and I accept that my friend was doing his best on his feet at the time, accept the accuracy of the 4 points that were put for instance, in relation to his second point, said that there was a delay of 4 months before treatment  was undertaken at a CIN III stage when in fact the records shows it was 2 months.  Now that's an example of the problem. I  don’t want to be left in a situation where this witnesses account, to the extent that he has had his views confirmed, his word by reference to patients 11-20, I don’t want that being discounted because of that conversation that occurred a moment ago when, if we explored it some more, we might well find that the witness was entitled to accept that confirmation.



MR HODSON REPLIES

MR HODSON:   	I don’t think the witness discounted it in the slightest and I’m very happy to discuss with Mr Corkill so we can dissolve any differences.

CHAIR:   	Yes I think it would helpful if it could be resolved by the two of you speaking with each other and resolving these factual differences while Dr Wain is here so that they can be tidied up.

MR HODSON:   	I really would not suggest that I have made any dent in Dr Wain’s views.

MR CORKILL:   	Well if the committee is prepared to accept that, that opinion from my learned friend with which I agree –

CHAIR:   	I am supposed to accept it as a concession Mr Hodson, shall I note it as a formal concession.  I see you nod.

MR HODSON:   	Yes ma’am.

MR CORKILL:   	That resolves the matter thank you Madam Chair.



MRS BARRETT XXN WITNESS

MRS BARRETT:   	Dr I just wanted to take you to your brief paragraph 24.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	These are some of the general comments that you made after you looked at patients 1-9 and the cervical screening is a pathway of clinical encounters and further down you say that the correct clinical management of the women with screen detected abnormalities and over on paragraph 27, the screening pathway in Gisborne, one of the issues that I picked up and it was sort of in the middle of that paragraph which says suggesting that public education programmes about screening have not been as successful as one may have hoped.  My question mainly I suppose with patient 6 again, on paragraph 18, you viewed her evidence and her medical records didn’t you.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	It's not stated in your clinical overview of her statement and I asked Dr Jones the same question the other day and I don’t want you to go to it but patient 6 in her evidence actually stated that she was handed a pamphlet by the Dr to go away and read about and when she saw the Dr again she asked him what CIN meant and that’s when he handed her a pamphlet.   Do you think that, in view of “clinical encounters”, as you make it, that clinicians should actually take some responsibility for explaining  terms and references to women who are affected?

A:    In general of course they should.  That’s part of being a clinician, looking after patients with clinical problems, to explain what the problem is.  And sometimes that’s from just discussion with the patient, sometimes it’s using drawings and sometimes it’s giving pamphlets which have been prepared.  So that was what I was touching on before.  I think one of the important parts of colposcopy service is the provision of information about screening and about what's involved because many, many women, for a whole number of years, have thought that when you get an abnormal Pap smear that means they’ve got cancer, so much of the clinical contact in a colposcopy clinic is often reassuring women that they haven't got cancer, that they’ve got a treatable pre-cancerous lesion for example.  I think, in the circumstances when all this was happening as a result of the public anxiety about this Inquiry, about everything that was going on, it would be very difficult managing patients in Gisborne in the public climate that this was all happening in.  So I think you're really talking about two issues.  The issue of getting information across to women in terms of routine colposcopy, and that’s clearly vital.  I would imagine as a clinician it would be additionally difficult doing it in this Gisborne region in the last year or so.   So the simple answer is yes, it’s very important to transfer that information.  It’s not just the clinician, it’s the screening programme, public education, health promotion activities and then the clinician at the end of the story.

Q:    And you would agree that in public health and health promotion and health education that the screening programme can do that quite effectively if done effectively?

A:    They can do it, but getting the individual message to individual women is not as simple as it sounds.  It’s a complex story cervical screening.  Getting it across to women is a challenge I think.  

Q:    I suppose the point that you just made and the one I’m trying to labour is the fact that health promoters and health educators can only go far, but for the clinical part of it I think that the clinician should actually own that by explaining it in detail to affected women?

A:    I agree entirely, and sometimes in your clinical encounter the patient is very aware – particularly these days they come in with Internet printouts and all sorts of things and you don’t need to explain very much at all, and some patients are paralysed with fear as a result of it.   And I think the clinician who works in colposcopy circumstances should be used to recognising the variety of information needs of patients.

Q:    Right.  The other question I wanted to go to was mainly the statistical report and I couldn't help but notice in it that you do have – I’m not sure whether you have a great number but you do have indigenous women in NSW.  Is there a particular part of your statistical report that refers to indigenous women, except for – I picked up a bit of it in number four I think it was, the strategic plan.  

A:    Yes.  You are touching on a very complex and important area of cervical screening in Australia.  You are also touching on the difficulty that we have had in terms of measuring a lot of things in relation to indigenous health in Australia.  The information we do have about cervical cancer incidence in Australia largely derives from areas such as the northern territory and Western Australia where there are larger populations of indigenous women and the identification of indigenous women is much easier.  In NSW we do have a large indigenous population, they represent approximately 1 to 2% of our population.  There's no easily identifier of that, and registration of indigenous status is very poor in Australia so that, for example pap test registers are not registered according to indigenous status.  To a certain extent cancer incidence is, but again that’s regarded in NSW as very unreliable because the relative proportion of the population is very poor and there are no good mechanisms for recording that.   On the information we have from the Northern Territory and Western Australia there appears to be a much higher incidence of cervical cancer in aboriginal women.   We have been unable to confirm or deny that in NSW because of the absence of data on that factor.  Notwithstanding that we put a lot of effort, we have taken the view that it is an important group of women who probably are at higher risk, have a higher incidence of cervical cancer even though we haven't proven that.  It’s certainly the experience of indigenous women in NSW that tell us that.  So we, in turn, put a lot of effort into screening and recruitment activities devoted specifically for indigenous women.  So you won't find a lot of information in our statistical report because we don’t have that information.  



CHAIR:   By not having good statistical information about indigenous women in Australia in terms of cervical cancer and screening, what impact does that have on the ability of the screening programme to deliver a good service to those women in terms of the goals of a screening programme being to reduce the mortality and incidence of cervical cancer.

A:    the major impact is that we have no way of measuring what we’re doing with indigenous women.  We are certainly doing things with indigenous women and talking with indigenous women and taking their advice about how best to conduct activities, but again, due to the spread out nature of indigenous women across NSW, that’s difficult.   That’s where we come back to the local activities, the area health authorities, who know their populations better at a local level, will direct them.  We just have never had the information to say whether we've got good screening rates or bad screening rates or good cancer rates or bad cancer rates or anything else.  We’re linking those areas in Australia where we do have reliable data.  And that data suggest that it’s much worse.  So we are functioning in a data-free-zone if you like in NSW about this.  Again, not unique to cervical screening, this is characteristic of all health services for indigenous women in NSW.

Q:    has the acquisition of data on aboriginal women for the purposes of the screening programme in NSW been impacted upon in any way by, and I don’t know whether this does exist in the case of Australian aboriginal women or not, cultural concerns and sensitivities about the nature of the data and the part of the body to which that data would relate?

A:    Very much so.  It’s an extraordinarily complex and sensitive cultural area and one in which perhaps a man shouldn't be discussing.

Thank you.



MRS BARRETT:   What data do you have on indigenous women;  is it easily accessible like the programme?

A:    I think it’s collated in the national report, the Australian Institute in Health and Welfare which puts an incidence rate of about 19/100,000.   So that’s from the top of my head.

Thank you doctor.



XXD PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   

Q:    Actually Dr Wain I think I've asked you most of the questions I wanted to ask you this morning but I just have one left.  The programme in NSW was established in 1996, that is the screening programme?

A:   	That's not entirely correct the programme was formally run by the NSW Cancer Council and they were contracted to run it from the early 90’s until 1996 when the contract was changed and is now conducted by my organisation, the Western Sydney Area Health Service on behalf of the Dept of Health so that is largely a management change rather than a significant difference so there has been a programme as such running for the whole of the 90’s basically.

Q:   	This management change occurred in 1996.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	How frequently is the statistical report produced since the change of management?

A:   	That's the second we’ve produced and we plan to produce it each year.

Q:   	So the first was what year?

A:   	97.  Sorry it's dated 97, the 98 report has been produced relatively recently so the 97 report was released early last year I think, early 1999, it was dated 1997 reflecting the data for 1997.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	The other entity that was responsible for running the screening programme before you took over did it publish statistical reports?

A:   	That really reflects the NSW Pap Test Register started in 1996 and that was really the first time we got good data for NSW.  Perhaps NSW is not the best example.  If you look at Victoria it has a register many years older than ours, they’ve been producing statistical reports throughout the 90’s I think their Register started in 86 or 87.

Q:   	So just so I can understand it then the screening that you talk about before 96 when your organisation took over, was that an organised screening programme with a screening Register in the way that the New Zealand programme has a Register?

A:   	No with an ad hoc process up until about then.

Q:   	So it was more opportunistic screening was it.

A:   	Yes I think those terms are fairly precise definition, by an organised programme I understand to mean a register with a policy and standards along the way. Each of those things fell into place in Australia and particularly in NSW in the 90’s, some in the early 90’s, some in the late 90’s but there was an enormous amount of cervical screening going on before then, it didn’t just start in the 80’s.  It was if you like an ad hoc screening programme or opportunistic if you like.

Q:   	Well what we’re trying to understand is to get a clear idea of when a proper organised screening programme in terms of say the World Health Organisation  model, in terms of the model in Victoria or in Finland and Sweden where you actually have a Register where women are enrolled on the programme, where smears are taken, recorded, reminders are sent out to them etc.  When did that start in NSW?

A:   	I thin it depends how closely you apply that definition, and I wouldn’t like to put a date on it.  I can tell you when the Register started for example, I can tell you when the national policy came in for example.

Q:   	Well perhaps if we just take it slowly and then get all these elements and then work out in what point of time do we have what the committee would see as a screening programme.  Sorry to make it arduous but it's important we have a clear understanding of when the Australia programme started.

A:   	It gets to the difficulty of starting a programme in an environment where there's a lot of ad hoc activity going on and the organisation of the programme then becomes one of changing behavior in getting people to align to this behavior so do you call it when everything is aligned or when you start trying to align people.

Q:   	Well I suppose if you’re being philosophical you could say as programmes are always evolutionary, there always developing, there has to come a common sense point of time in which you might say, we have an organised screening programme, that’s what I’m trying to determine now.  So perhaps if you could just tell me firstly when did NSW introduce a pap smear register which was opt off.

A:   	July 1996 and it was the second last Register to start in Australia.  Queensland came after our Register, all of the other States and Territories prior to that, starting from Victoria that was the first Register that I think started in 87 or something like that.

Q:   	And when was  set of policy and standards issued for the screening programme.

A:   	Screening policy with a national policy was adopted in 1991.

Q:   	When you say national policy what do you mean by that, it came from Canberra?

A:   	It came from Canberra.  It was endorsed by all of the relevant medical Colleges and various organisations and it was accepted that that was the national policy, that that was for two yearly screening.  That was the two yearly screening interval and that started in 1991 prior to that there had been a lot of screening but no agreed policy it was a matter of consensus opinion that women should have annual smears.

Q:   	And was that a policy that was really driven by Medicare saying that clinicians ought to on a two yearly cycle be taking smear tests from their female patients of a certain age group?

A:   	The policy as it is is not actually linked to Medicare, a woman could have at this current point in time, could still have a smear every week and still be covered by Medicare.  Medicare is - the policy is not linked at this stage to Medicare, there are discussions about that but at this stage there’s no link to funding. 

Q:   	So the national policy anyway was just to encourage clinicians to have women have smears every two years.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And was anything done with the information from those smears in terms of collating the information?

A:   	It depended on whether there were registers operating.

Q:   	Right well for NSW there was no Register.

A:   	There was no Register and there was no information.

Q:   	So to get a practical understanding of it then what happened is a woman would come through the clinician’s door every 2 years, a smear would be taken, he would report back to her depending on what the outcome would be, the normal consequences would take their effect.

A:   	Correct.

Q:   	At that time who would have been responsible for reminders for follow up?

A:   	Either no-one, or the doctors, many doctors at that time had their own in house reminder systems.

Q:   	And does that Pap Smear Register have a reminder system.

A:   	They do a reminder in NSW in fact I think it's almost universal around Australia that a reminder is sent out at 27 months if a woman hasn’t had a pap smear prior to that point.  It's not a recall system, it's a reminder system if a woman fails to have a pap smear.

Q:   	Right so that came into being in July 1996 with the Register.

A:   	Yes but if you add 27 months to that the first reminder letters didn’t go out until whenever, 1999 or something.

Q:   	No but the requirement happened at the same time as the Register.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Are you familiar with the World Health Organisation  organisational requirements for a screening programme?

A:   	Generally familiar yes.

Q:   	And were those requirements in place before or after July 1996 in respect of the NSW programme?

A:   	Could I look at them specifically.

Q:   	I think there’s a reasonable summary of them in Boyd paragraph 16 his evidence.

A:   	Just repeat the question, where they in place when?

Q:   	July 1996 or earlier.

A:   	There was a central office responsible for planning, coordinating and evaluating the programme yes.  There was an agreed policy instead of objectives for the programme against which to measure the programme.

Q:   	When did that come into force.

A:   	The policy came in in 1991.  The objectives of the programme I think probably came at the same time.  They were incorporated usually in the agreements between the state and the Federal Governments.

Q:   	Yes but how could you have a policy for a programme if you didn’t have a Register.  I’m sorry but I’m trying to find in this very incremental arduous way when we can say the NSW programme started.

A:   	I appreciate the difficulty because I can’t answer that question specifically.  We had an agreed policy, I presume an agreed policy about what screening should be done.

Q:   	Yes but the agreed policy it's my understanding it was when clinicians would do smear tests.

A:   	Yes.  That's what I understand about a policy about screening.  

Q:   	Do you have a policy now in respect of the programme you are currently responsible for.

A:   	We have adopted the national screening programme, we accept that as the policy.



INQUIRY BRIEFLY ADJOURNS AT 12:31



�

INQUIRY RESUMES AT 12:38



CHAIR ADDRESS INQUIRY RE SITTING WITHOUT MRS BARRECT

CHAIR:   	Firstly I should make sure that that is alright with everyone because otherwise it will create a jurisdictional problem.  No problems? [No objections].



CHAIR CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

CHAIR:   	No Dr Wain we’ve been over this issue about policy and objectives, my understanding of the national policy when it first came out in the early 90’s and please correct me if I’m wrong is that it was a policy relating to advising doctors to smear test their patients every 2 years.

A:   	Doctors and –

Q:   	and smear-takers -

A:   	- And women. 

Q:   	And women.   And at that time any information gathered as a result of those smear reading exercises would have been gathered no an ad hoc basis dependent on whether or not a doctor set the information somewhere.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	There was no organised means of getting that information.

A:   	No.

Q:   	For what I would have described as an organised screening programme would you say the corner stone of an organised screening programme is a pap smear Register.

A:   	I’d probably agree that it is a corner stone but I’d like to add however that it is by no means the only thing and it is often overrated in terms of it's importance in a screening programme but that's my personal view but I agree to be able to generate data and information about what's going on in a screening programme a Register is vital.

Q:   	Would you see an organised screening programme as being something that is coordinated in such a way that data from individual women is obtained, held in a central repository available for use to assist in the treatment  of cervical cancer and in the treatment  of smears and in circumstances where follow up letters are generated so that there is a centrally coordinated body doing it rather than relying on individual clinicians.

A:   	Would I agree it's valuable?

Q:   	Would you agree that's what you would call an organised screening programme?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	How long has that type of programme been in place in NSW?

A:   	The Register started in July 1996 with the reminders coming in due course.

Q:   	And when did the first statistical report be generated as a result of the accumulation of data from the Register?

A:   	In NSW?

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	The precise date I’m not sure but it would be early 1999.

Q:   	And this annual statistical report 98 which appears at page 63 of your exhibit, that's an annual statistical report 1998 NSW pap Register that came out in June 2000.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And is that the first report that has come out.

A:   	No this is the second report.

Q:   	Right.

A:   	The first report came out approximately 14 or 15 months ago and related to the data from 1997, there’s a built in time lag with much of this information.

Q:   	So we had the pap smear Register start in July 1996, the first statistical report which gave you information for what period of time?  July 1996 would it have been to July 1997.

A:   	It's a variety of information some of it for example participation rates is a two year span because of the timeframe, some of it is the number of cancers registered in one year, some of it's the number of cancers registered in 3 years so it depends on the indicia about what time frame.

Q:   	Well this one came out in June 2000 did the previous one come out in June 1999.

A:   	I can’t tell you precisely it was somewhere between  Jan and June 1999.

Q:   	Thank you.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	In terms of your practice as a gynecological oncologist, do you find this statistical report useful?

A:   	It's hard to separate my roles as a gynecological oncologist as the Director of the screening programme as to how useful I find it.  As someone who treats cervical cancer I find the tables about the incidence of cervical cancer the age ranges, the difference between microscope-invasive disease, adenocarcinoma the trends over that time, I find that absolutely fascinating, I wonder if that's because also I’m the Director of the screening programme that I’m interested in that but –

Q:   	It may be unfair to ask you to dissect yourself into your component parts.  Just a little pathology humor!  As the Director of the screening programme how do you use this statistical report, of what benefit is it to you?

A:   	It depends on which bit your talking about.  The bits about participation rates for example, we tailor our recruitment programmes specifically to those areas which have low participation rates directing specific activities into that.  The report breaks down into both area health services and local Government authorities which are small geographical zones and report the varying rates so that we will concentrate our recruitment activities for example on those areas with low participation rates.  A second aspect for example relates to something that is a problem in Australia in term of over-screening women who have more screening than is necessary, there’s information in that about how the incidence of over-screening, so we’ll use some of that information to try and reassure women that they don’t need such frequent smears in particular areas.  Some of it relates to laboratory information and that's an area where we have very little information about specific laboratories but we can get general overviews about the conduct of cytology in NSW so we can have a general sense of what’s happening.  Some of it in relation to cancer incidence I think we look at that really as an end stage monitoring of what’s going on.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	What do you mean by that, an end stage monitoring of what's going on.

A:   	Well the whole purpose of a screening programme is to reduce cervical cancer so we like to look for example at the continuing decline of cervical cancer.  We like to see each year a progressively smaller number of cancers, we would like to see this programme being successful in preventing cancer.  That's really the end of the story.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Would you be surprised if your cancer incidence started to rise?

A:   	At this stage I’d be surprised if it started to rise, there’s the theoretical possibility  that by increasing participation rates we will pick up a whole lot of cancers that we weren’t detecting and that's possible .  I don’t think that will account for a very large number of cancers.  I think we in NSW, many of the other States in Australia have seen a progressive decline in the incidence, other States are ahead of us in the decline of incidence and I would be disappointed if we saw a progressive rise in incidence at this late point.

Q:   	As the programme director of the NSW screening programme is it your responsibility to critique the information or digest information in this statistical report to identify trends and to act if there is an aberration in the trend?

A:   	That would be one of my responsibilities yes and we have a number of processes where we can present that information to a variety of forums, advisory committees and soforth yes.

Q:   	And is you responsibility to initiate this activity, is that correct?

A:   	It's not defined in any contract but I would accept that as my responsibility yes.

Q:   	Thank you.



CHAIR CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Does your Register in NSW and the pap smear Register correlate histology with cytology.

A:   	Yes they do.

Q:   	Is that helpful when it comes to monitoring whether or not smear tests are being read properly.

A:   	On an individual basis I don’t know because I don’t have access to that information.

Q:   	How often is there a monitoring and evaluation exercise carried out on the NSW screening programme?

A:   	Our contractor for the first phase of the programme that commenced in 96 or 97 expired, let me get my dates right, within the last year or so, just prior to that we underwent review by evaluating our activities and that lead to a renewal of the contract.

Q:   	Do you have any in-house monitoring and evaluation of how the screening programme operates in NSW?

A:   	Yes and they produce the reports, they interpret the statistics and produce the annual reports.  Perhaps I could add that in addition to the annual reports, we’ve generated quarterly reports which are for local presentation so we’ve been producing variations, that's the summary report that we produce at the end of each year and they produce those reports on a much more regular basis for local area health services.

Q:   	In terms of the reports that your programme produces, the annual statistical report, it might be the quarterly report whatever, do you have any type of reporting system which analysis statistical data in such a way that it would allow you to recognise that there may be a problem in respect of laboratory reporting of smears?

A:   	We don’t currently have anything that would help us in that regard other than very broad measures, nothing specific.

Q:   	What are the broad measures?

A:   	Extremely broad like a high incidence in cancer and such is happening in Gisborne and we don’t have that – we don’t have an area that has that sort of thing so we don’t have – apart from that very broad sort of indicator then we wouldn’t have – I don’t have access – the Register ahs that data and generates it and produces it for laboratories who in turn report to the NATA QAP.

Q:   	I see so this is a function in terms of the way your programme is organised that the monitoring and evaluation of laboratories in terms of their reading of smears is done by another component within the health system.

A:   	Yes I perhaps didn’t make that clear.  The Register can certainly do that and generates the information that's required for the laboratories to report against their standards that we’ve had some discussion about.  That's a confidential process however between the laboratories and the Register and that information is just fed to the Register who in turn feed it to the QAP.  I don’t personally or the Health Dept doesn’t have access to that information.

Q:   	No but NATA does.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	No if a laboratory is not performing well, my understanding of your evidence is that the pap smear Register would feed back information to that laboratory which would signal that there was under-reporting or over-reporting is that correct?

A:   	To be more pedantic, the pap smear Register would give them their performance standards as calculated according to that.  What the laboratory does with that is purely between  themselves and NATA.

Q:   	Well that's the next point I was coming to.  Does that information go to NATA as well as the laboratory.

A:   	No it goes to the laboratory and then as part of their requirements, they provide it to NATA.

Q:   	If you have a poorly performing laboratory, what if that laboratory is also not performing it's requirements in respect of NATA.  In other words it may not send the information on.  What happens then?

A:   	Currently that's up to NATA and the laboratory, that's between NATA and the laboratory.

Q:   	And does NATA do regular audits of laboratories?

A:   	Yes they inspect the laboratories I think every three years.

Q:   	So if a laboratory was performing badly, didn’t honour it's requirements to NATA, it would take up to 3 years for NATA to discover that?

A:   	To be fair that's currently under a lot of discussion and will probably change in the next while as I understand it, I’m not party to those discussions but am told it's likely to change in the near future but at the moment it's a 3 yearly process.

Q:   	And the standards for the laboratories to meet, these are the standards that you’ve referred to in your exhibits, page 306 performance standards for Australian laboratories reporting cervical cytology?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And are you familiar with these standards?

A:   	Relatively familiar.

Q:   	And these are the standards that Dr Farnsworth talked about which set out certain performance measures.

A:   	Yes that's correct.

Q:   	And these are quantitative performance measures.

A:   	That's correct

Q:   	And each laboratory as a result of the record on the pap smear Register is measured according to these performance standards is it?

A:   	Some of them they were able to do previously for example performance 1 is the amount of smears reported unsatisfactorily they were always able to do that just by counting what was in their laboratory.  They’ve needed the pap test Register to a certain extent for the correlations because a patient may have had a histology in a different laboratory so the pap test Register is not vital for all of these standards but to be complete, laboratories have needed the pap test Register data.

Q:   	Given what you said before about how there was this national policy that came out in the early 90’s about screening of women etc. if an organised programme and by that I mean a programme where there is a pap smear Register with central coordination, computerised information, automatic follow-up letters being sent out to women etc. data about laboratory performance being fed out, if an organised programme is going to be imposed, I’ll use that word, on an existing system where screening has been going on, if you are going to rely for the purposes of that organised programme on existing services and perhaps modifying those services, do you consider as director in your knowledge of the screening programme in NSW, that it would be a good idea to have some quality assurance  assessment of the various components of the existing services that are going to be used within the organised screening programme before you start the whole ball rolling?

A:   	In principal yes but as always the problem is in the detail and in the implementing quality assurance  measures and if you go through cervical screening at each step of the pathway it's a varying difficulty to design those measures but in principal yes it is important to have those measures in place.

Q:   	And in terms of setting up an organised screening programme do you think that the quality of the laboratory services being used is something that is fundamental to the programme?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And do you think when you are setting up an organised screening programme that it is important to ensure that laboratory services have a proper quality assurance  and monitoring and evaluation procedures in place which impose minimum standards and mandatory standards from the outset of the organised programme or do you think you can say when we start the programme we will focus on getting women on the Register, coverage and leave laboratory performance for later on?

A:   	Again theoretically yes but again in practice it's the implementation of these things.

Q:   	When you say theoretically yes what do you mean?

A:   	Theoretically it's important to have quality standards for laboratories but when you have for example in Australia 80 or in NSW 55 laboratories performing screening to get all of those to align their procedures and to be able to carry out that quality procedures is technically, just logistically, a difficult challenge to get agreement from all of those.  In medicine it's usually been a stepwise process ranging from coercing through to asking for cooperation and through to legislative requirements so to get it all in place is easy in theory but the implementation is a challenge for anybody.

Q:   	In Australia you have had NATA accreditation as compulsory for laboratories since the late 80’s.  As the Director of a screening programme what views would you have on an organised screening programme with a pap smear register being run in circumstances where laboratories without any accreditation were being used for the purposes of reading pap smears?

A:   	Sorry to be evasive but it gets into the technical detail of what's involved in accreditation and I think it not being an area of my great expertise as I understand it that NATA accreditation in the early 80’s whilst being compulsory was not a particularly difficult challenge for laboratories.  It's really the requirements for accreditation that have progressively changed over that time so NATA accreditation in 1985 for example was a lot easier than NATA accreditation in 2000.  So it being compulsory hides the fact that those requirements have strengthened over that time and that process has been a matter of progressive tightening and progressive organisation so they needed to be compulsorily accredited but I wouldn’t be confident that a laboratory that was accredited then was truly capable of doing pap smears.

Q:   	Well would you be confident of using a laboratory to read pap smears which is being run by a pathologist doing primary screening as the only pathologist who did not participate in any external quality assurance  programme and whose, apart from the general ethical requirements that all registered medical practitioners have to adhere to, it was not subject to any other mandatory requirements.

A:   	No I wouldn’t be at all happy with that in the year 2000 or 1995 or 1990 or 1985.  Those principals have been in place for a long time regardless of how you define them in terms of accreditation or whatever else.  The accreditation process has always been conceptually against that approach.

Q:   	Yes. 



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Wain if I heard you correctly I believe you said that there is some difficulty with the implementation of standards in terms of the programme and as we are talking about laboratories is there a difficulty with the implementation of performance standards in the laboratories in NSW?

A:   	My information about that has to be a bit limited because I don’t really know.  It's something that happens between NATA and the laboratories.  I get at the end of the day the cumulative reports from the QAP that tell me that some laboratories in Australia fall beyond the standards one way or the other.  I don’t know which laboratories they are, I don’t know whether they are in NSW or in another State so in terms of the practical implementation clearly there are laboratories in Australia falling outside of those standards.  I don’t know what the explanation for that is.

Q:   	How can you as a programme director remediate that problem. 

A:   	At this stage I can’t do anything about it but what we do is talk to all laboratories in general terms about improving quality processes and tell them to seek out their reports and try to instruct them in interpreting their reports.  They have their reports and we work on the principal that we offer help to all laboratories in terms of their quality improvement.  But if you are asking me personally or me as the programme director, do I know which laboratory is performing or not performing then the honest answer is no I don’t.  The laboratory knows but I don’t.

Q:   	Thank you very much.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Do you consider that it is essential as the director of the screening programme to have access to the cancer Register?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Do you consider it's essential to have an up to date cancer Register?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Thank you very much.  Mr Hindle?



MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR HINDLE:   	Just one matter both Mr Murray and the panel have asked a number of questions about the way in which the screening programme was set up in NSW and I think that we heard from Dr Farnsworth yesterday that the document which appears as your exhibit 1 making the pap smear better, I had the impression from what she said that that was a sort of a foundation document in the history of the establishment of screening programmes in Australia nationally, would you agree with that?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	I think her evidence also was that some of the recommendations in that report are only now finding there way into real life standards and practice, do you agree?

A:   	Yes it's an interesting historical document and I was flicking through and I think some of them still haven’t been put in place.

Q:   	You’ve given some evidence in your brief about the NSW programme but perhaps I could just ask you this, would you hold up the way in which the way in which the screening programme has been implemented in NSW as a model for the world to follow?

A:   	Certainly not, I’d hold it up as an example of how difficult it is to do.

Q:   	Thank you.



CHAIR ADDRESSES WITNESS & INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	Thank you very much for coming Dr Wain.  Most appreciated.  We’ll adjourn now until 2:15 and Mr Murray will then have Ms Mellor and Mr DuRose.



INQUIRY ADJOURNS UNTIL 2:15 PM
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